# FILED

FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

WAY 1 1 1983

SID J. WHITE OLEN SID J. WHITE

Case No. 62,098

FREDDIE C. JONES,
Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

Criminal Division
Case No. 81-23460(A)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kathleen Phillips
Joel V. Lumer
Special Assistant
Public Defenders
Attorneys for Appellant
Freddie C. Jones
711 Biscayne Building
19 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
Tel. 305-374-4340

###

#### INTRODUCTION

This an appeal from the convictions and sentences imposed by the trial court. This brief is filed on behalf of appellant, Freddie C. Jones. Hereinafter the parties will be referred to by the positions that they held in the trial court and their proper names. All references to the transcript of proceedings beginning on March 29, 1982 will be abbreviated with the letter T. All references to the rest of the record on appeal will be abbreviated with the letter R.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment was filed on October 30, 1981 charging the defendant with first degree murder, robbery and kidnapping. (R. 1603-1604). Trial of the case was commenced on March 29, 1982 (T. 1) and on April 5, 1982 a jury found the defendant guilty as to all three counts of the indictment. (R. 1781-1783). After a hearing to determine the penalty to be imposed on the first count (R. 1203-1310), the jury advised that the court impose a sentence of life imprisonment without possibility of parole for 25 years. (R. 1850). On Count I the court ordered the defendant sentenced to death. (R. 1844). On Counts II and III the court sentenced the defendant to life imprisonment with a minimum mandatory of three (3) years to be served without eligibility of parole. (T. 1844). All sentences were imposed consecutive to one another. (T. 1845).

References to the course of proceedings and citation to the record will be made in the relevant argument portions of the brief in order that the court can better relate these proceedings to what the defendant asserts as error.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Tomas DeVillegas (T. 864-865) was killed (T. 705) October 7, 1981 in Hialeah, Florida (T. 705) at approximately 9:45 a.m. (T. 719, 723). The bullet that was removed from the deceased's head (T. 897-898) was a .38 caliber bullet (T. 924). The father of the defendant bought a .38 caliber "gun" (T. 943) and he could not find that gun on October 16, 1981 (T. 944).

On October 7, 1981 (T. 796), Tomas DeVillegas drove a Blue Ribbon Meat truck (T. 796) out of the Blue Ribbon Meat Company lot in Hialeah, Florida at 9:00 a.m. (T. 799). On October 7, 1981 (T. 636, 670-671), Francisco and Ligia Diaz were stopped at the intersection at West 4th Avenue and 29th Street in Hialeah (T. 638-639). The time of day was in dispute (T. 638, 655-656), 657, 658, 670-671, 682, 696). The car in front of the Diazes (T. 639) was the car owned by the defendant's father (T. 673, 677, 945-947). Cecil Jones, the father, testified that on October 7, 1981 his car was at home (T. 949-950.) The truck in front of the car had a Blue Ribbon logo on it (T. 639-640). The Diazes saw 2 black men get out of the car and enter the truck (T. 641-643, 674-675).

The Blue Ribbon truck had been washed early in the morning of October 7, 1981 (T. 813) and the defendant's fingerprint was found, sometime after 3:00 p.m. on October 7, 1981 (T. 752), on the outside door of the driver's side of the Blue Ribbon truck. (T. 755-756).

Robert Horton testified that he drove Freddie

Jones and Carlton Adderly to a red light where the

defendant and Adderly exited the car and got into

a truck that was stopped at the light in front of

them (T. 960-961). Horton followed the truck until

it stopped near a row of trees. (T. 963). Horton

heard shots (T. 964) and saw the defendant get back

in the truck (T. 964) with a gun in his hand. (T. 964-965).

In the penalty phase of the proceeding Carlton Adderly testified that he and the defendant got into a Blue Ribbon Meat Truck on October 7, 1981. (T. 1204). He first testified that neither he nor the defendant had a gun (T. 1209) and then said that the defendant did have one. (T. 1205). Adderly testified that the defendant hit the man in the meat truck. (T. 1205). After the defendant hit the man he was pointing the gun around "and stuff, making him be quiet." (T. 1205). Adderly testified about the victim that: "He was crying; he was crying but I don't think he know any English or nothing. He was like saying, 'Please, please,' that is what he was saying." (T. 1206).

Jones made the man get down on the floor and he got down. (T. 1206). After the truck was stopped, Jones, according to Adderly, opened the door at the passenger's side and pulled the victim out of the truck. (T. 1207).

The trunk of the car got opened, Jones tried to tell the victim to get into the trunk and the victim started crying and going crazy. (T. 1207).

Jones started going crazy saying "I will kill you."

(T. 1208). Adderly testified that the gun was fired, but did not "recall" how far Jones was when he fired the gun. (T. 1209). On cross-examination of Carlton Adderly the following exchange took place:

- Q. [By Mr. Gold] You were not out there by the truck, by the back of the Cadillac, when the shooting took place, were you?
  - A. No, sir.
- Q. You were in the truck, is that correct?
  - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And you just heard some shots, isn't that right?
  - A. Yes.
- Q. You do not know how close Freddie Jones was to the man when he was shot, do you?
  - A. No, not really, sir.
- Q. You really do not know what happened out there, do you, because you were in the truck when that happened?

A. Not the killing, sir. I just heard the shots. (T. 1215)

On redirect examination Adderly testified as follows:

- Q. [By Mr. Kahn] From where you were sitting, you were seated higher in the truck than where the car is?
  - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. You can see out the windshield and see out?
  - A. Yes, you can see out. (T. 1216)

Statements of the facts of this case and references to the appropriate pages of the transcript of proceedings will be made throughout the argument section of this brief in order to relate particular facts to the issues to which they are relevant.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Is the evidence sufficent to support the conviction?
- II. Did the court err in admitting inflammatory photographs into evidence?
- III. Was the proof fatally at variance with the indictment?
  - IV. Was the defendant tried by a jury purposefully selected so as not to represent a fair cross section of the jury?
    - V. Did the prosecution engage in argument that destroyed the essential fairness of the trial?
- VI. Did the court err in refusing to give instructions as to penalties for lesser included offenses?
- VII. Did the court improperly override the jury recommendation of life imprisonment?
- VIII. Did the court err in finding aggravating circumstances under the capital felony sentencing statute?
  - IX. Did the court err in refusing to consider the facts that would have mitigated the death sentence?
  - X. Is death a disproportionate sentence in this case?

#### ARGUMENT

I.

#### REVIEW OF EVIDENCE

Under Rule 9.140(f), Fla. R. App. P.:

In the interest of justice, the court may grant any relief to which any party is entitled. In capital cases, the court shall review the evidence to determine if the interest of justice requires a new trial, whther or not insufficiency of the evidence is an issue presented for review.

Review of the legal sufficiency of the evidence to support the conviction is required under § 921.141(4), Fla. Stat. (1981). <u>LeDuc v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 149, 150 (Fla. 1978).

Blue Ribbon Meat Company is located at 2340
Webster Avenue in Hialeah, Florida. (T. 799). Miguel
Mendez, the supervisor at Blue Ribbon Meat (T. 794),
testified that at approximately 9:00 a.m. on October 7,
1981 Tomas DeVillegas drove a truck out of the company's
parking lot. (T. 799). The truck turned left to 23rd
Street and then turned right onto West 4th Avenue. (T. 798).
The intersection of West 4th Avenue and 29th Street in
Hialeah is six blocks from the Blue Ribbon Meat plant
(T. 632, 814). According to Miguel Mendez it would
take less than 5 minutes for a truck to drive from the
plant to West 4th Avenue and 29th Street. (T. 814).

Patrolman Victor Anchipolovsky found the body of the deceased 65 yards east of the intersection of East 1st Avenue and 33rd Street in Hialeah. (T. 705). He

was dispatched to the scene at 10:07 a.m. and arrived about 10:30 a.m. (T. 705). A Hialeah fire rescue unit had arrived prior to Anchipolovsky. (T. 705). Officer Gary Williams of the accident investigation unit (T. 710) estimated the time of the death causing incident at 9:45 a.m. (T. 719, 723). Dulce De Armus, who lives at 237 East 33rd Street, Hialeah, (T. 699) heard 2 shots at approximately 10:00 a.m. on October 7, 1981. (T. 700).

Francisco Diaz lives at 251 East 7th Street in Hialeah. (T. 635). He did not go to work on October 7, 1981. (T. 636). That day he drove with his wife to the house of his son who lives in Hialeah. (T. 637). They were heading northbound on West 4th Avenue (T. 639) and stopped at a red light at the intersection of West 4th Avenue and 29th Street. (T. 638-639). Mr. Diaz was asked if he knew what time he <u>left his house</u> that day. (T. 638). He answered:

Not exactly. It was before eleven, between ten and eleven. Between noontime. (T. 638).

On cross-examination Mr. Diaz was asked if it was before lunch when he got to the intersection of West 4th Avenue and 29th Street in Hialeah. (T. 655). He replied:

Yes -- no. I think it was little earlier than that, before twelve. (T. 655).

The examination continued as follows:

- Q. Was it between eleven and twelve when you got there?
  - A. Could be.
  - Q. You are not sure of that?
- A. No, because I didn't look at my watch at that time.
- Q. Well, do you think the time was before or after eleven?
  - A. I believe it was before.
  - Q. How much before?
- A. I told you maybe 20 minutes, a half hour

(T. 655-656).

At his deposition Mr. Diaz testified that he arrived at the intersection a little before lunch, around eleven or so. (T. 657). On October 7, 1981 Mr. Diaz testified that he ate lunch, with his wife, at home, before going to his son's house at around 10:00 a.m. (T. 658).

Ligia Diaz is Francisco Diaz's husband. (T. 670). Her direct examination concerning when she left home on October 7, 1981 went as follows:

- Q. And do you recall what time you left your house, to go see them?
- A. It must have been around lunch time, like that.
  - Q. Do you know what time?
- A. I do not recall exactly. It must have been ten, ten-thirty.
- Q. Is eleven o'clock lunch time for you?

- A. Well sometimes it is.
- Q. About ten-thirty or so, did you leave with your husband to go somewhere?
- A. Yes, because my son called that he was sick.

(T. 671).

At her deposition Mrs. Diaz said that she did not know whether it was 12 o'clock or 1 o'clock when she got to the intersection at West 4th Avenue and 29th Street in Hialeah. (T. 682).

Maria Diaz is the daughter-in-law of Francisco and Ligia Diaz. (T. 690). On October 7, 1981 she was living at 3740 West 5th Court in Hialeah, Florida. (T. 689). Mr. and Mrs. Diaz came to visit her that day (T. 690). To drive from the intersection of West 4th Avenue and 29th Street to her house takes three or four minutes at most. (T. 695-696). Maria Diaz's direct examination concerning when her in-laws arrived at her house was as follows:

- Q. About what time did they come to your house?
- A. Before noon. Before lunch.
- Q. Do you remember specifically what time?
  - A. No. Exactly, no.
- Q. But it was in the morning hours?

A. It was in the morning.

MR. GOLD: Objection to Counsel leading the witness.

THE COURT: Overruled. It is just for the preliminary matters.

(T. 691).

Her cross-examination on this point was:

- Q. Thank you. You say your parents got there before twelve o'clock?
- A. Around that time. I cannot say exactly what time it was
- Q. Excuse me. I meant your in-laws.
  - A. Yes.
- Q. Maybe a few minutes before or after?
  - A. Before, not after.
  - Q. A few minutes before?
  - A. Right.

(T. 696).

The Blue Ribbon truck being driven by Tomas
DeVillegas arrived at the intersection of West 4th Avenue
and 29th Street at 9:05 a.m. The truck was hijacked
and Mr. Devillegas was killed at 9:45 a.m. at East 1st
Avenue and 33rd Street. According to the testimony of
three persons, Maria and Francisco Diaz arrived at
the intersection of West 4th Avenue and 29th Street
no earlier than 10:30 a.m. and possibly as late
as 12:00 p.m. The incident they observed occurred at

least 1 1/2 hours after Tomas De Villegas' truck was hijacked -- unless one can believe that 2 people would describe a meal eaten before 9:00 a.m. as lunch.

The description by Mr. and Mrs. Diaz of the events they observed when compared to the testimony of Robert Horton lends credence to the conclusion that what the Diazes saw was not the hijacking of the truck being driven by Tomas De Villegas. According to Horton the defendant was in the front passenger seat and Carlton Adderly was in the back. (T. 988). The defendant exited from the front passenger door (T. 988) and leaned in the rear passenger side for about a minute pointing a gun at Carlton Adderly. (T. 962, 990). The defendant told Adderly to get out of the car and Adderly got out. (T. 962, 990). The defendant still had a gun in his hand (T. 990) as he turned around and walked towards the truck. (T. 991). Adderly and the defendant were together, but Horton did not know which one went first. (T. 991). At some point the defendant crossed over to the driver's side and Adderly went to the passenger's side. (T. 991). When they got to the truck the defendant pulled out his gun and told Adderly to get in. (T. 961).

As Francisco Diaz stopped at the traffic light, there was a car in front of him and a truck in front of the car. (T. 638-639). The truck had the Blue Ribbon logo (640) and the car was the brown one (T. 640), with an antenna on top of the center of the trunk (T. 641),

from which two black men exited (T. 641). One of the black men got out on the right side and one got out on the left side of the car. (T. 641). When asked for a description of the men, Mr. Diaz said that their backs were turned towards him. (T. 641). The man who got out on the driver's side of the car went toward the driver's side of the truck. (T. 642). The man who got out on the other side went toward the passenger side of the truck. (T. 642). Testifying about the man who approached the driver's side Mr. Diaz said:

I saw that he reached the door. He opened the door and he went into the truck. (T. 643).

Francisco Diaz did not see either one of the men have anything in their hands. (T. 661). Neither one had a weapon in their hand. (T. 662). Neither one had a pistol. (T. 662). Mr. Diaz never saw the black male that went to the driver's side of the truck lean into the passenger's side of the brown car before he went to the truck. (T. 662). As he passed the truck, Mr. Diaz saw 2 men inside and nothing unusual happening at that time. (T. 662).

Ligia Diaz confirmed that the man who got out on the driver's side of the car went to the dirver's side of the truck and the man who got out on the passenger side of the car went to the passenger side of the truck. (T. 674). Ligia Diaz did not see any guns or anything in the hands of the men who exited the car and went to the truck. (T. 687).

The scene that occurred at 9:05 a.m. was a forced confrontation. One man exited the front passenger side of the car, pulled a gun, leaned in the rear of the car and forced the passenger in the rear to exit. He then crossed over in front of the car, went to the driver's side of the truck, pulled a gun on the driver of the truck and forced his way into the truck. The scene that occured between 10:30a.m. and 12:00 p.m. was more of a friendly rendezvous. Two men exited from opposite sides of the car, no guns were drawn, the man from the front did not lean into the rear and force the man in the rear to exit, no one crossed over in front of the car, no one had anything in their hands at any time, and when the man from the driver's side of the car reached the driver's side of the truck he merely opened the door and got in.

The Diazes were immediately behind the brown car from which the two black men exited. It bends credulity to believe that they would not have seen any guns drawn or that the man from the front passenger side could have exited, gone to the rear door and stood there for a minute as he got the rear passenger out of the car without the Diazes seeing. There is a significant and noticeable difference between going up to a truck, opening the door and getting in versus going up to the door pulling a guna and forcing one's way into a truck. Common sense and logic indicate that someone as close to the scene

of events as were the Diazes, and someone as observant as to memorize the license plate number of the car would not have noticed the difference.

Both of the Diazes described the man they saw go to the driver's side of the truck as merely a black man. There was no description of the man's face, clothing or any identifying traits or characteristics other than he was black. Is such a description of any probative value? What kind of probative weight would be given to testimony that merely described a suspect as being white?

Robert Horton, Carlton Adderly and Melvin Williams all live in Carol City. (T. 980-981). They went to school together (T. 981); they played ball together (T. 981) and are all pretty good buddies. (T. 981). The defendant lived at 9150 N.W. 7th Avenue in Miami and worked at the port on Dodge Island. (R. 1602). Up until 5 or 6 months before the incident he had lived with his parents (T. 1269) at 281 N.W. 52nd Street in Miami (R. 1747-1748). One October 7, 1981 Horton had known Jones for only a couple of weeks. (T. 956). When asked if he knew Freddie Jones, Carlton Adderly said:

Not really, but yes I know him. (T. 1203).

The hijacked meat truck was found by the police at 47th Avenue and 183rd Street in Carol City. (T. 745, 785). The truck was taken there by Horton, Adderly and Williams. (T. 971). Williams drove the truck to Carol City and Adderly was with him in the truck. (T. 971). Horton followed in Williams' car. (T. 971).

According to Horton, when the hijacked truck was moved from East 1st Avenue and 33d Street it was taken to a warehouse in Opa-Locka. (T. 966). Adderly and the defendant were in the truck and Horton followed in the car. (T. 966). According to Horton, the defendant talked to someone in the warehouse. (T. 968) and then took it to a street on the side of a dump. (T. 969). At this point the defendant abandonned the truck and drove: Adderly and Horton to Adderly's house. (T. 970). The reasonable inference from Horton's account is that Jones surrendered the keys to the meat truck to Adderly and Horton at this point. After reaching Adderly's house, Horton called Williams and Williams drove to Adderly's. (T. 971). Horton, Adderly and Williams then drove in Williams' car to the abandonned truck. (T. 971). Williams and Adderly got in the truck and drove it from the dump site to the apartments at N.W. 47th Avenue and 183d Street in Carol City. (T. 971-972). Horton followed in Williams' car. (T. 971).

Defendant asks the court to take judicial notice of the geographic proximity of Opa-Locka to Carol City.

If Horton's account is to be believed, it was the defendant who chose the warehouse in Opa-Locka that was close to where Williams, Adderly, and Horton lived even though the defendant lived in a different part of Dade County. If Horton's account is to be believed, the defendant, after speaking to one man in a warehouse in Opa-Locka, completely abandoned the entire enterprise and handed over the keys to the truck to Horton and Adderly, even though he had masterminded the hijacking and killed a man in order to obtain the contents of the truck.

The more logical explanation of the evidence is that the state entered into agreement with Horton and Adderly who in exchange for lenient sentences agreed to place the blame for the kidnapping and killing on the defendant. Horton and Adderly were part of a well established group with Williams. The defendant was an outsider. Horton, Adderly and Williams got the proceeds of the robbery. The defendant mercurially abandoned the entire enterprise. The place where the parties decided to take the truck to sell the contents was not in the defendant's neighborhood, but rather that of Horton, Adderly and Williams. Horton and Adderly have nothing to lose by pointing their collective finger at the defendant and leniency for themselves and preservation of their friendship to gain.

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