FILED CASE NO. 62,098

FREDDIE C. JONES,

JUN 29 1983

Appellant

SID J. WHITE SUPRIME OQUET **Y** Clerk

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

#### Appellee.

> AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND Assistant Attorney General Ruth Bryan Owen Rohde Building Florida Regional Service Center 401 N. W. 2nd Avenue (Suite 820) Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 377-5441

####

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

The procedure in Wheeler is as follows:

If a party believes his opponent is using his peremptory challenges to strike jurors on the ground of group bias alone, he must raise the point in timely fashion and make a prima facie case of such discrimination to the satisfaction of the court. First, as in the case at bar, he should make a complete record of the circumstances as is feasible. Second, he must establish that the persons excluded are members of a cognizable group within the meaning of the representative cross-section rule. Third. from all the circumstances of the case he must show a strong likelihood that such persons are being challenged because of their group association rather than because of any specific bias.

The refined version enunciated in Payne, and which Defendant requests this court to adopt states as follows:

Accordingly, we hold that when it reasonably appears to the trial court, either by its own observation or after motion by the defendant, that the prosecuting attorney is using peremptory challenges to systematically exclude Blacks from the jury solely because they are Blacks, the court should require the prosecutor to demonstrate, by whatever facts and circumstances exist, that Blacks were not being systematically excluded from the jury solely because they were Blacks. At this stage, the burden of demonstrating that the Constitution was not being violated is upon the pro secution. Also, at this stage, the trial court should not employ any presumption that the Constitution is not being violated. Once it reasonably appears to the trial court that the accused is being affirmatively denied an impartial jury as required under the Sixth Amendment, there is no reason to presume that the State is not affirmatively violating the accused's constitutional entitlement.

If the trial court finds that as to any of the questioned challenges the State has not sustained its burden of demonstrating that it was not excluding Blacks from the jury solely because they were Blacks, the court must then conclude that the jury as constituted at that point fails to comply with the fair cross section requirement of the Constitution, and it must dismiss the jurors thus far Also, it must quash selected. any remaining venire, since

the accused is entitled to a random draw from an entire venire, not one that has been partially or totally stripped of a cognizable group by unconstitutional means. Upon such dismissal, a different venire should be drawn and the jury selection process may begin again. (footnotes omitted).

The decision in Wheeler has since been adopted by the Supreme Court of Massachusetts, Commonwealth v. Soares, 387 N.Ed.2d 499 (Mass. 1979), and an intermediate Appellate Court in New York. People v. Thompson, 79 App.Div.2d 87, 435 N.Y.S.2d 739 (2d. Dept. 1981). Other states have considered the Wheeler decision without actually deciding whether to follow it. State v. Crespin, 94 N.M. 486, 612 P.2d 716 (1980); Mallott v. State, 608 P.2d 737 (Alaska 1980); Saunders v. State, 401 A.2d 629 (Del. 1979). The Illinois Courts were originally split. People v. Fleming, 413 N.Ed.2d 1330 (Ill.Ct.App. 1980); People v. Payne, 106 Ill App.2d 103 436 N.Ed.2d 1046 (Ill.Ct.App. 1982); People v. Teaque, 108 Ill. 3d 891, 439 N.E.2d 1066 (Ill.Ct.App. 1982). See People v. Davis, 447 N.E. 2d 353 (1983), where the Illinios Supreme Court rejected the Wheeler doctrine. New York has also refused to adopt it. People v. McCray, 57 N.Y.2d 542, 457 N.Y.2d 441 (Ct.App. 1982).

Defendant, argues that his right to jury chosen from a representative cross section of the community is thwarted if

the State uses is peremptory challenges to systematically exclude blacks from the petit jury. In support of this argument he strongly relies on People v. Payne, 106 Ill.App.3d. 1034, 436 N.Ed.2d 1046 (Ill.App. Ct. 1982). Payne, it is argued, extended the Sixth Amendment protection provided during the venire selection to the voir dire. Id. at 1048. The court reasoned that the "very purpose of refusing to tolerate racial discrimination in the composition of the venire is to prevent the State's systematic exclusion of any racial group in the composition of the jury itself, if we were to hold otherwise, the constitutioanl right to a jury drawn from a fair cross section of the community could be rendered a nullity through the use of peremptory challenges." Id. at 1048.

Payne clearly is not the law in this jurisdiction, nor should it be. Payne is not even the law in Illinois, (1983). In <u>People v. Davis</u>, <u>supra</u> the Illinois Supreme Court was presented with the issue as to whether the State's use of peremptory challenges to allegedly obtain an all-white jury deprived defendant of his right to a fair and impartial jury. The Court, without mentioning the conflicting holdings on the issue in the State's intermediate appellate courts, held as follows:

However, we are not disposed to depart from the principle enunciated in <u>Swain</u>. "Peremptory challenges, are arbitrary and perhaps even irrational challenges to the seating of a juror. They are totally subjective and not subject to scrutiny.

Davis, 447 N.E. 2d at 360.

The State submits that the test proposed in <u>Wheeler</u> and <u>Payne</u> should be rejected because it is seriously flawed in several respects, not the least of which is the defective Constitutional analysis which forms the underpinning for the decision.

Simply stated, <u>Wheeler</u> takes the right established by <u>Taylor v. Louisiana</u>, 419 U.S. 522 (1975), to have a jury <u>selected</u> from a representative cross-section of the community and extends it so as to create the new right to have "a petit jury that is as near approximation of the cross-section of the community as the process of random draw permits." <u>People v. Wheeler</u>, <u>supra</u>, 22 Cal.3d at 277, 148 Cal.Rptr. at 903. In effect, this creates a quota system<sup>2</sup> with the prosecution being pressured to accept a requisite number of minority jurors merely <u>because</u> of their membership in the group, regardless of whether the prosecutor

<sup>2</sup>See <u>State v. Silva</u>, 259 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1972) where Dade County's quota system for jury panel selection was found violative of the Sixth Amendment.

subjectively believes they can be fair. The underlying premise of these cases, that such diversity in the jury room is necessary to ensure the integrity of the jury process, simply is not supported by sufficient empirical data or experience so as to rationally justify such a judicially legislated "affirmative action program." See, Note Peremptory Challenges and the meaning of Jury Representation, 89 Yale L.J. 1977 (1980); Note, The Defendant's right to object to prosecutorial misuse of the peremptory challenge, 92 Harv.L.Rev. 1770 (1979). Moreover, this holding is directly contrary to the view expressed in Taylor, that defendant's are not entitled to a petit jury of any particular composition and reflect the various distinctive groups in the population. Id. 419 U.S. at 538. See also City of Mobile Alabama v. Bolden, 446 U.S. 55, n. 24 at 77 (1980).

In fact, the California and Massachusetts Courts' "fair cross section" constitutional analysis has placed them into an interesting paradox. Since the right to trial by a representative jury must be provided to the State as well as to the defendant, these courts have held that the prosecution has the same power to thwart any defense attempt to strike minority group members from the panel. People v. <u>Wheeler</u>, <u>supra</u>, 22 Cal.3d at 282, n. 29, 148 Cal.Rptr. at 906-907; <u>Commonwealth v. Soares</u>, 387 N.Ed.2d at 517, n. 35;

<u>Commonwealth v. Whitehead</u>, 400 N.Ed.2d 821 (Mass. 1980). Yet this proscription upon a defendant's exercise of peremptory challenges clearly runs afoul of the constitutional right to exercise peremptory challenges, a right which may not be abridged. <u>Meade v. State</u>, 85 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1956); <u>Leon v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 203 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); <u>Pointer v. United States</u>, 151 U.S. 396 (1894); <u>Lewis</u> <u>v. United States</u>, 146 U.S. 370 (1892). As observed by Court in <u>Francis v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982) at 1178-1179:

> The exercise of peremptory challenges has been held to be essential to the fairness of a trial by jury and has been described as one of the most important rights secured to a defendant. Pointer v. United States, 151 U.S. 396, 14 S.Ct. 410, 38 L.Ed.2d 208 (1894); Lewis v. United States, 146 U.S. 370, 13 S.Ct. 136, 36 L.Ed.2d 1011 (1892). It is an arbitrary and capricious right which must be exercised freely to accomplish its purpose. Ιt permits rejection for real or imagined partiality and is often exercised freely to accomplish its purpose. It permits rejection for real or imagined partiality and is often exercised on the basis of sudden impressions and unaccountable prejudices based only on the bare looks and gestures of another or upon a juror's habits and associations. It is sometimes exercised on grounds normally thought irrelevant to legal proceedings or official

action, such as the race, religion, nationality, occupation or affiliations of people summoned for jury duty. Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 85 S.Ct. 824, 14 L.Ed.2d 759 (1965).

Both Florida and federal courts recognize that a juror's race, religion, nationality and occupation are perfectly legitimate considerations upon which to base the exercise of a peremptory challenge. <u>Francis v. State</u>, <u>supra; Swain v. Alabama, supra</u>. As pointed out in <u>Swain</u>, it is well-known that these factors are widely explored during the voir dire. <u>Rosales-Lopez v. United States</u>, 451 U.S. 182 (1981); <u>Aldridge v. United States</u>, 283 U.S. 308 (1931). Accordingly, <u>Swain</u> recognized a presumption that the prosecutor is using the State's challenges to obtain a fair and impartial jury and not solely for the purpose of excluding jurors of a particular racial or ethnic group.

The only justification for abandoning this presumption urged by the defendant is that it places a difficult burden on a defendant to require him to make a showing of discrimination over a substantial period of time. However, this burden is essentially no different than that required for a defendant to establish a prima facie case of discrimination during other stages in the jury selection process, <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 237 (Fla. 1980); <u>Rojas</u> v. State, 288 So.2d 234 (Fla. 1973); <u>Castenda v. Partida</u>,

430 U.S. 482 (1977), and is certainly not insurmountable, <u>See</u>, <u>State v. Brown</u>, 371 So.2d 751 (La. 1979); <u>State v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 375 So.2d 1162 (La. 1979), especially where the prosecutor is available and able to be questioned concerning his past conduct. <u>Swain v. Alabama</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>United States v.</u> Pearson, 448 F.2d 1207 (5th Cir. 1971).

The major problem with the Wheeler approach is that, as pointed out in Commonwealth v. Henderson, supra at 955-956, it is unworkable. As this Court held in Francis v. State, supra at 1179, the exercise of peremptory challenges is an arbitrary and capricious right which must be exercised freely to accomplish its purpose. Its purpose is to eliminate jurors whom a party, for purely subjective reasons, believes cannot be fair. There simply exist no objective standards whereby a trial judge, let alone an appellate court which has before it only a cold record, can evaluate a lawyer's subjective evaluation of prospective jurors. To paraphrase Swain, how is it possible for a prosecutor to offer an explanation for "the sudden impressions and unaccountable prejudices we are apt to conceive upon the bare looks and gestures of another." This Court should follow the lead of the Wisconsin Court in State v. Grady, supra and refuse to undertake such an alteration of the very nature of the peremptory system as that suggested by the defendant.

It is interesting to note that the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida, has already rejected the <u>Wheeler-Payne</u> Doctrine. <u>Neil v. State</u>, (slip opinion filed June 21, 1983, and is appended hereto). THE STATE'S CLOSING ARGUMENT WAS NOT FUNDAMENTALLY INFLAMMATORY TO PERMIT THE ISSUE TO BE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

Defendant asserts that the State's closing argument was so prejudiced that it deprived the Defendant of a fair trial and therefore can be the basis for reversal without a contemporaneous objection. In support thereof, the Defendant has randomly picked out fourteen of the prosecutor's statements. The State submits that said comments were taken out of content and when viewed in their proper perspective were not improper. Therefore, it was incumbent of Defendant to raise the issue at trial in order to preserve it for appeal. <u>See</u>, <u>Perry v. State</u>, 146 Fla. 187, 200 So. 525 (1941).

Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 133 So.2d 729 (Fla. 1961) cert. denied, 369 U.S. 880, 82 S.Ct. 1155, 8 L.Ed.2d 283 (1962), cert. denied 372 U.S. 904, 83 S.Ct. 749, 9 L.Ed 2d 730 (1963). Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate argument. <u>Spencer v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. Inferences are not objectionable merely because they overcharacterize, or that soundness of their logic, or relevancy may be lacking. Schnoider v. State, 152

V.

So.2d 731 (Fla. 1963); Brown v. State, 80 Fla. 741, 80 So. 574 (1920). The normal parameter of closing argument is significantly broadened under the doctrine of invited response. Pitts v. State, 307 So.2d 473 Fla. 1st DCA 1975); cert. dismissed 423 U.S. 918 (1975). Personal belief of guilt are not permitted, however statements that the facts show guilt are permissible. Coleman v. State, 215 So.2d 96 (Fla. 4th DCA 1968). Each case must be considered on its own merits and within the circumstances surrounding the complained of remarks. Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982). Finally, it is the reviewing court's duty to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violation. United States v. Hastings, 33 Crim.Law Rptr. 3091 (1983). See also Hall v. State, 403 So.2d 1321 (Fla. 1981).

The only possible comment that could arguably be improper is:

1. No one is trying to hide anything from you, but I do not think the man should walk out the door because of a slight conflict like that. I do not think this man should walk out the door because the Diazes did not know whether it was 10:00 or what time in the morning it was. (T. 1114-1115).

2. The defense attorney is going to argue that this is a bad identification. I do not believe it is. (T. 1113). 3. I believe all the elements have been met in this case beyond a reasonable doubt. There is no doubt about it. (T. 1100-1101).

4. I have done my job. I believe that I have proven the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. (T. 1118).

5. Sure there were some conflicts. If thee weren't I would be surprised as to who got together here on this case and planned this testimony. (T. 1114).

Defendants Brief page 50-51.

The defendant contends that this is a comment stating personal belief. However, even this comment does not reach the level of impermissible argument inasmuch as it was a permissible deduction of the sufficiency of the evidence to establish the defendant's guilt.

In <u>Coleman v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the challenged language used by the prosecutor was "and if you believe as I do", was held not to be a unfair comment. The Court held.

> The language used by the prosecutor 'and if you believe as I do' when considered in full context as used was not an expression of personal opinion irrespective of the evidence but was a permissibe conclusion or deduction by him of the suf ficiency of the evidence to establish the defendant's guilt. It was fair comment made in the discharge of the function of his office. . . (citations omitted)

> > 215 So.2d at 98.

Therefore, when all of the challenged comments are viewed in their proper content, it is evident that none of them were fundamentally inflammatory. As such, contemporaneous objections were necessary in order to preserve the issue for appeal. Inasmuch as this was not done, this issue should not be addressed or in the alternative summarily denied. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS AS TO THE PENALTIES OF THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES.

Rule 3.390(a) Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure states:

(a) The presiding judge shall charge the jury only upon the law of the case at the conclusion of argument of counsel and upon request of either the State or Defendant, the judge shall include in said charge the maximum and minimum sentences which may be imposed (including probation) for the offense for which the accused is then on trial.

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